# MINUTES OF THE ORDINARY MEETING OF WICKLOW COUNTY COUNCIL HELD IN THE COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNTY BUILDINGS, WICKLOW ON MONDAY 29<sup>th</sup> APRIL, 2019, COMMENCING 2PM

#### PRESENT:

COUNCILLOR P. VANCE, CATHAOIRLEACH, COUNCILLORS T. ANNESLEY, J. BEHAN, V. BLAKE, S. BOURKE, T. CULLEN, S. CULLEN, P. DORAN, G. DUNNE, P. FITZGERALD, T. FORTUNE, C. FOX, M. KAVANAGH, P. KENNEDY, N. LAWLESS, S. MATTHEWS, M. MCDONALD, G. MCLOUGHLIN, D. MITCHELL, M. MURPHY, D. NOLAN, O. O'BRIEN, D. O'BRIEN, G. O'NEILL, J. RUTTLE, J. RYAN, J. SNELL, B. THORNHILL, E. TIMMINS, G. WALSH, J. WHITMORE AND I. WINTERS.

**IN ATTENDANCE: MR. F. CURRAN, CHIEF EXECUTIVE MR. S. QUIRKE, DIRECTOR OF SERVICES MR. J. LANE, DIRECTOR OF SERVICES MR. T. MURPHY, DIRECTOR OF SERVICES MR. M. NICHOLSON, DIRECTOR OF SERVICES MR. C. LAVERY, DIRECTOR OF SERVICES MR. B. GLEESON, HEAD OF FINANCE** MS. L. GALLAGHER, SENIOR EXECUTIVE OFFICER/MEETINGS ADMINISTRATOR **MS. S. WALSH, SENIOR PLANNER MS. B. KILKENNY, SENIOR ENGINEER MR. M. DEVEREUX, SENIOR ENGINEER MR. D. MARNANE, SENIOR ENGINEER MS. M. CAHILL, SENIOR EXECUTIVE ENGINEER MS. J. CARROLL, SENIOR EXECUTIVE OFFICER MR. D. FORDE, ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER MR. D. PORTER, ADMINISTRATIVE OFFICER** MR. J. CALLERY, ASSISTANT ENVIRONMENTAL AWARENESS OFFICER (AEWO) **MS. G. LANG, ASSISTANT STAFF OFFICER** 

**VOTES OF SYMPATHY:** Elected Members passed a vote of sympathy to the families of the late Mr. Denis Collins, Mr. Peter Byrne, Mrs. Eileen Kinsella, Mrs. Violet Williams, Mr. Sean Byrne, Mr. John O'Brien and Mr. Jimmy Miley. Members noted the opening of books of condolences in memory of Ms. Lyra McKee and also the victims of the recent attacks in Sri Lanka. A minutes silence was observed for the deceased.

#### VOTE OF ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The achievements of the County Wicklow participants in the recent Special Olympics were acknowledged. The Cathaoirleach advised that it was intended to recognise participants at a future date and when the new Council is in place.

#### ITEM NO. 1

# To confirm and sign minutes of Ordinary meeting of Wicklow County Council held on Monday 1<sup>st</sup> April, 2019.

It was proposed by Cllr. N. Lawless, seconded by Cllr. J. Ryan and agreed to confirm and sign the minutes of ordinary meeting of Wicklow County Council held on Monday 1<sup>st</sup> April, 2019.

#### ITEM NO. 2

To consider the disposal of fee simple interest in 5 plots of land on land situated on the west side of Mill Road, Arklow, Co. Wicklow to Mill Sea Limited, North Quay, Arklow, Co. Wicklow. It was proposed by Cllr. P. Fitzgerald, seconded by Cllr. M. Murphy and agreed to dispose of fee simple interest in 5 plots of land on land situated on the west side of Mill Road, Arklow, Co. Wicklow to Mill Sea Limited, North Quay, Arklow, Co. Wicklow.

#### **ITEM NO. 3**

To consider the disposal of portion of land, being 0.0477 hectares or thereabouts, comprised in Folios No's WW12328, WW2803F and WW4484 being lands at Hazelbrook Rise, Ballybeg, Rathnew, Co. Wicklow to Rathnew SPV, First Floor, Block 1, Quay Side Business Park, Dundalk, Co. Louth.

It was proposed by Cllr. J. Snell, seconded by Cllr. G. Dunne and agreed to dispose of portion of land, being 0.0477 hectares or thereabouts, comprised in Folio No's WW12328, WW2803F and WW4484 being lands at Hazelbrook Rise, Ballybeg, Rathnew, Co. Wicklow to Rathnew SPV, First Floor, Block 1, Quay Side Business Park, Dundalk, Co. Louth.

#### ITEM NO 4

To consider the disposal of part of the freehold interest in the property comprised in Folio WW5279F being 25 Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow to Mr. Rossa Murray and Ms. Deirdre Murray, 25 Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow.

It was proposed by Cllr. P. Vance, seconded by Cllr. D. O'Brien and agreed to dispose of part of the freehold interest in the property comprised in Folio WW5279F being 25 Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow to Mr. Rossa Murray and Ms. Deirdre Murray, 25 Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow.

#### ITEM NO. 5

To consider the disposal of part of the freehold interest in the property comprised in Folio WW5279F being 25a Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow to Mr. James Mulrooney (junior) and Ms. Elizabeth Carroll, the legal representatives of James Mulrooney (deceased) 25a Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow.

It was proposed by Cllr. P. Vance, seconded by Cllr. D. O'Brien and agreed to dispose of part of the freehold interest in the property comprised in Folio WW5279F being 25a Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow to Mr. James Mulrooney (junior) and Ms. Elizabeth Carroll, the legal representatives of James Mulrooney (deceased) 25a Hawthorn Road, Bray, Co. Wicklow.

#### ITEM NO 6

To consider the disposal of property situated in the townland of Wicklow, Co. Wicklow, known as 41 Seafield, Wicklow Town to Ms. Karen Murphy, the legal representative of Ms. Dorothy Murphy, deceased.

It was proposed by Cllr. G. Dunne, seconded by Cllr. J. Snell and agreed to dispose of property situated in the townland of Wicklow, Co. Wicklow, known as 41 Seafield, Wicklow Town to Ms. Karen Murphy, the legal representative of Ms. Dorothy Murphy, deceased.

At the request of the Cathaoirleach it was agreed to consider item number 13, having regard to the members of the public in the public gallery attending to hear discussion on the item. It was also agreed to consider item number 15.1. Notice of motion in tandem with item 13.

## **ITEM NO 13**

## To receive a presentation: The Draft Climate Adaption Strategy.

The elected members were circulated with the Draft Wicklow County Council Climate Change Adaptation Strategy.

Mr. S. Quirke, DOS advised the elected members that the draft Climate Adaptation Strategy for County Wicklow has been prepared in conjunction with the Climate Adaptation Regional Office where there are 17 local authorities working with that office to produce their own individual Climate Adaptation Strategies. He advised that the strategy contained some 61 actions for Wicklow County Council to address, some of which are budgeted and some which will have resource implications for the council in the future. He advised that the Strategy had been consider by the Strategic Policy Committee and that it was recommended to be brought before the full Council with the proposal to go out on public display for consideration by the public. He advised that the elected members must approve it by the 30<sup>th</sup> of September next.

Mr. Jim Callery, AEAO, gave the following presentation covering the following areas:-

WICKLOW COUNTY COUNCIL - CLIMATE CHANGE ADAPTATION STRATEGY - Planning, Development and Environment

# April 2019

## What is Climate Change Adaptation?

- Adaptation involves taking steps to adapt to climate change already occurring and predicted.
- The Climate Adaptation Strategy will influence Wicklow County Council's policies and procedures to ensure operations are resilient to a changing climate.
- Adaptation will allow Wicklow County Council to moderate or avoid harm and exploit beneficial opportunities.

# Adaptation Vs Mitigation

- Example <u>mitigation</u> measure: Installing solar photovoltaic panels to generate renewable electricity and reduce carbon emissions.
- Example <u>adaptation</u> measure: Plan for reduced frequency of gritting services due to less cold nights but increased risk of a more intense snow event like Storm Emma in 2018 due to predicted increases in winter precipitation.

## Surface Temperature Changes

- Since the start of 2007, the NASA/GSFC have created animations based on the GISTEMP dataset shows
- Shown is the <u>5-year mean anomaly of surface temperature</u> beginning with the 1880-1884 global surface temperature anomaly, advancing in one year increments, and ending with the 2013-2017 anomaly.

# Summary of Observed Climate Changes in Ireland

- Irelands climate is changing in line with global patterns;
  - Temperatures are rising across all seasons
  - The timing and spatial distribution of precipitation (rain, sleet and snow) is changing
  - Sea levels are rising

## Why a Strategy now?

Climate Action and Low Carbon Development Act, 2015.

Section 5: National Adaptation Framework (NAF) approved December 2017.

- Sectoral and LA Adaptation Strategies.
- Wicklow County Council Adaptation Strategy must be adopted before 30<sup>th</sup> September 2019.

## Purpose of Strategy

- Wicklow County Council Adaptation Strategy takes on the role as the primary instrument at local level to:
  - Ensure an understanding of the key risks and vulnerabilities of climate change
  - Bring forward the implementation of climate resilient actions in a planned and proactive manner
  - Ensure that climate adaptation considerations are mainstreamed into all plans and policies and integrated into all operations and functions of the Local Authority.

## **Contents of Strategy Report**

- Chapter 1: Introduction and Background
- Chapter 2: Regional and Local Context
- Chapter 3: Adaptation Baseline Assessment and Case Studies
- Chapter 4: Climate Risk Identification
- Chapter 5: Adaptation Goals, Objectives and Actions
- Chapter 6: Implementation, Monitoring and Evaluation

## Winter Storms 2015/2016

- UK and Ireland costs Barney €198M, Desmond €970M, Eva €2.2B, Frank €310M
- WCC certified expenditure of €2,418,968
- Wicklow Swimming pool €190,000
- Roads, drains, culverts €1,355,000
- Housing repairs €38,000
- Fire crews €24,388
- ▶ Wicklow Library €1,000
- Damage to weir in Ashford and Coastal erosion The Murrough and Brittas Bay.

## Storm Emma 2018

- WCC had a certified expenditure of €677,830 on the clearance of roads.
- €5,938,839 was the estimate for repairing damage to roads.
- Fire services dealt with 21 incidents.
- Several homes flooded in Wicklow Town and erosion on the coast.
- Plastic debris from as far as Holyhead washed up on beaches.
- Extra resourcing for homeless services.

## Heatwave 2018

- Fire Service Call outs 2018
- Month Number of incident Costs
- April 19 €12,540
- ▶ May 33 €37,125
- lune 132 €84,288
- ▶ €170,000 estimated extra expenditure on fire services for the summer
- School and homes evacuated in Kilmacanogue and Windgates.
- Beaches, lakes and key tourist sites extra busy. Parking issues and litter management issues.

Cllr. T. Fortune proposed the following notice of motion which was on the agenda at item 13, which was seconded by Cllr. G. Walsh. He referred to secondary school students Molly Gordon and Shona Edge which he described as two climate change activists from Greystones present in the chamber and he highlighted the work that they have been involved in recently and the presentation they had made to the Joint Oireachtas Committee on Climate Change. He said that both students consider that the local authority plays a key role in working with the community in addressing climate change. Both students received a warm round of applause for their achievements and were welcomed to the Chamber.

Notice of motion in the name of Cllr. T. Fortune (25<sup>th</sup> March, 2019) and from the Greystones Municipal District (26<sup>th</sup> March, 2019).

That Wicklow County Council acknowledge and support the recent #Climate Strikes [1,2] driven by the young people and families in Greystones, Arklow, Dublin and around the country.

That Wicklow County Council have listened and understood the deadly urgency felt by the young people and their demand that all stakeholders and representatives act immediately to ensure that young people have a liveable future in Wicklow, in Ireland and on planet Earth.

That Wicklow County Council agree that the evidence of emergency is overwhelming from <u>IPCC on</u> <u>Climate</u> [3] and from <u>WWF LPR on Biodiversity</u> [4].

That Wicklow County Council agree that, while relatively small in global terms, Wild Wicklow, previously acknowledged as the World's most liveable community, can and must step up and show visible leadership.

That Wicklow will immediate implement the following steps (as leading proactive cities and regions internationally already have):

-Declare a Climate Emergency for Wicklow

-Publish a Climate Action Plan

-Declare a Biodiversity Emergency for Wicklow

-Update and publish a Biodiversity Action Plan

-Report regularly on progress on both Action Plans

Elected Members made the following contributions:-

- Draft Plan, welcomed. Climate change is the most serious issue that will affect us all and call put forward for the support in the Council Chamber to implement the actions contained therein.
- Members of the public and students and young people thanked for attending in the Council chamber for the discussion
- View expressed that changes have to be made and proactive decision taken.
- Council needs to get more active to protect our natural assets
- Additional areas in the document need attention such as biodiversity
- View expressed that the most important action is the appointment of a climate action officer who will have responsibility for climate related activity in the County and that Wicklow county Council needs to budget for this.
- Call for a ban on Roundup as it is killing our pollinators, no cutting of verges as they are a valuable food source, no felling of healthy trees and no hedge cutting during the nesting season.

- Call for caution to be exercised in relation to a complete ban on roundup, view expressed that without roundup there is no weed control and without an alternative food prices and supply may be effected.
- People should be more informed as to where the consumables are coming from and what is the carbon footprint, how far has the product travelled before it is on the shelf.

Cllr. J. Whitmore proposed that any implementation committee would have representation on it from Comhairle Na Nog, as it is important that the students and the youth be part of the process. This was seconded by Cllr. N. Lawless.

It was proposed by Cllr. T. Fortune, seconded by Cllr. G. Walsh and agreed that the Draft Wicklow Climate Adaptation Strategy go on public display. It was also agreed that the notice of motion passed be circulated to all local authorities.

The Chief Executive thanked the community for getting involved in the process and that it was reassuring to see the young people taking a strong interst in climate change. He advised that the actions contained in the draft strategy will be a priority for the Council, the management team and for all departments within the Council.

## ITEM NO7; ITEM NO 8; AND ITEM NO 9

## ITEM NO 7

To consider report in accordance with Section 179 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 as amended; Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001 as amended: in respect of proposed solar carports at Wicklow County Council Carpark, County Buildings, Station Road, Wicklow Town – Planning Register Reference 19-111.

and

## <u>ITEM NO 8</u>

To consider report in accordance with Section 179 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 as amended; Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001 as amended: in respect of proposed development of 156 housing units at Lott Lane, Kilcoole, Co. Wicklow – Planning Register Reference 19/148.

and

## ITEM NO 9

To consider report in accordance with Section 179 of the Planning and Development Act, 2000 as amended: Part 8 of the Planning and Development Regulations, 2001 as amended: in respect of proposed development of 166 housing units at Killincarrig, Greystones, Co. Wicklow – Planning Register Reference 19/147.

The Chief Executive advised that an issue had been raised in relation to the site notice and public notice in relation to the public consultation process. He advised that a paragraph should have been included to the effect that the schemes do not require an environmental impact assessment which was omitted. The legal advice to the Council is that the process could be challenged as a result and that the Council should withdraw the proposals, without consideration, and commence the process again.

It was proposed by Cllr. P. Vance, seconded by Cllr. J. Snell and agreed that Items 7, 8 and 9 be withdrawn without consideration.

Cllr. J. Behan asked that proposal such as 8 and 9 should be referred to the Housing SPC for consideration prior to coming before full Council as well as the Municipal Districts.

## <u>ITEM NO 10</u>

## To consider the Chief Executive's Monthly Management Report, April 2019.

Elected Members were circulated with the Chief Executive's Monthly Management Report, April 2019 on 24<sup>th</sup> April, 2019. The Chief Executive advised that he would take the report as read and also take any questions in relation to it.

The Chief Executive advised the elected members that Mr. Colm Lavery had taken up duty as Director of Services in Roads, Water and Emergency Services and Ms. Dorothy Kennedy had taken up duty as Law Agent. He advised that the Open Library at Arklow had commenced, the Kilmac safety scheme is likely to be signed off during the week and that expressions of interest will be sought for the 2019 Town and Village scheme.

Elected Members made the following contributions which were responded to by the Chief Executive:-

- Query as to whether a pedestrian footpath can be included in the N11 Kilmacanogue scheme to facilitate pedestrians walking from the roundabout at Woodies to Kilmacanogue now that the bus terminates at the Southern Cross route.
- Can something temporarily actioned to facilitate access to the N11 from the Roundwood Road at Kilmacanogue, view expressed that this is quite hazardous
- Request that consideration be given to include residents who have purchased their houses at Oldcourt Estate over the years in the energy efficiency works scheme.
- Cycle path at N11 supported, information is that there is a letter in circulation from the NTA advising that they will positively consider an application from Wicklow County Council to provide such funding and infrastructure.
- Cllr. B. Thornhill advised that he wished to ask a question, which was seconded by Cllr. O. O Brien, as the matter was not relevant to the Chief Executive's report the Cathaoirleach ruled that he would not take the question.
- Query as to when the general operatives will commence employment in the Districts
- Is the Council up to date with regard to HAP inspections
- When will the new contractor be appointed to the housing scheme at the FCA site Wicklow Town.
- Rebuilding Ireland Mortgage scheme raised, can applicants be considered on the basis of what they have the capability to repay rather than being refused on what they have looked for.

## <u>ITEM NO 11</u>

To note the Annual Financial Statement, 2018 and to approve by resolution additional net expenditure in excess of budget in accordance with Section 104 (7) of the Local Government Act, 2001.

Elected Members were circulated with Wicklow County Council Unaudited AFS 2018 on 24<sup>th</sup> April, 2019.

Mr. B. Gleeson, Head of Finance advised the Members that the report was before them at the request of the auditor to highlight unders and overs. Approval for the additional net expenditure in excess of the budget was required from the Members under Section 104 (7) of the Local Government Act, 2001.

Division	€
Division A - Housing & Building	(109,604)
Division B - Roads, Transportation & Safety	(194,256)
Division D- Development Management	(20,854)
Division E- Environmental Services	(793,115)
Division F - Recreation & Amenity	(100,031)

The net overspends were:-

It was proposed by Cllr. S. Matthews, seconded by Cllr. G. Walsh and agreed to approve by resolution additional net expenditure in excess of budget in accordance with Section 104 (7) of the Local Government Act, 2001.

#### **ITEM NO 12**

## To consider the Scheme of Priority for Affordable Dwelling Purchase Arrangements.

Elected members were circulated with report dated the 24<sup>th</sup> of April, 2019 of Ms. J. Carroll, Senior Executive Officer, Housing and Corporate Estate enclosing the Draft Scheme of Priority for affordable dwelling purchase arrangement. Ms. Carroll gave a presentation covering the following areas and responded to queries to the Elected Members:-

WICKLOW COUNTY COUNCIL - AFFORDABLE HOUSING - SCHEME OF PRIORITY Affordable Housing (Part 5) Regulations 2019 made under the Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act, 2009 (SI No. 81 of 2019)

#### **Legislative Framework**

Part 5 - Housing (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2009

- The Minister commenced Part 5 of the Act on 18<sup>th</sup> June 2018, which places the new scheme for Affordable Purchase on a statutory footing
- Part 5 comprises 19 different sections (Section 78-96 inclusive)
- Requirement for the Minister to make **regulations** in respect of a number of sections, including a **Scheme of Priority** and **assessment of eligibility**

These new provisions replace all previous affordable purchase schemes and :

- Provide for discounts of up to 40%
- Provide that housing authorities take a fully repayable charge on the property equal to the discount - Equity Share(replacing the old clawback arrangement)
- Provide for repayments to be pooled in a strategic affordable housing fund managed by the Housing Finance Agency

Regulation 3 – Advertise Affordable Purchase arrangements

Regulation 4 - Making of applications by households for

assessment of their eligibility and processing of such applications

Regulation 5 – Order of priority to be applied to eligible households

## **Overview of relevant sections of Part 5**

**Section 81** – The power of a Housing Authority to provide Financial Assistance to purchase dwelling on the Open Market

This provision will not be brought into operation at present as there is no Exchequer funding and there is currently a Help to Buy Scheme operated by Revenue

**Section 84** – Assessment of eligibility of households for Affordable Dwelling Purchase arrangements

Eligibility conditions include:

- The person is a First Time Buyer (certain exemptions to this)
- The person does not have an interest in any other dwelling, either in the State or elsewhere
- A household's income must be such that it is inadequate to meet their repayments on a mortgage because the payments calculated over the course of a year would exceed 35% of the household net income.
- Section 85 Making of a Scheme of Priority

## **Scheme of Priority**

Section 85 provides for the making of a Scheme of Priority that will determine the order of priority given to eligible households in relation to the purchase of an affordable dwelling The Scheme will include the methodology that will be applied to determine the order of priority to be accorded to eligible households, where the demand for such arrangements exceeds the dwellings or resources available.

All Housing Authorities, including those no with no immediate plans to deliver affordable housing options, must make a Scheme of Priority before 18<sup>th</sup> June 2019.

# **Application of Order of Priority**

(where eligible applications exceed available dwellings)

As eligible households meet more of the criteria the level of priority increases

- Eligible households
- Suited to Dwelling
- Live in Area
- Education in Area
- Work Locally

## **Order of Priority**

- Assess eligibility under Section 84
- Determine household composition relevant to the particular dwelling type

The elected members were advised that the scheme must be adopted by June, 2019 and that the only available meeting is todays meeting. The members noted that the criterion laid out is prescribed in legislation, with discretion only to deciding on 'distance from education' and distance from employment'. Initially a distance of 30km for both is being proposed within the draft scheme.

Cllr. C. Fox suggested a distance of 50km having regard to the distance from Bray to Arklow, other views expressed favoured the retention of the 30km. Following a brief discussion on the matter it was proposed by Cllr. J. Snell, seconded by Cllr. V. Blake and agreed to adopt the draft Scheme of

Priority for Affordable Dwelling Purchase Arrangements, leaving at the limit at 30kms and possibly revising the discussion in September, 2019.

#### **ITEM NO 14**

#### Correspondence.

It was proposed by Cllr. D. O'Brien, seconded by Cllr. J. Snell and agreed to confirm and sign minutes of Protocol meetings held on Monday the 15<sup>th</sup> of January, Monday the 4<sup>th</sup> of February, Monday the 4<sup>th</sup> March, and Monday the 1<sup>st</sup> of April, 2019.

It was proposed by Cllr. P. Vance, seconded by Cllr. G. Walsh and agreed to confirm and sign minutes of Corporate Policy Group meeting held on Monday 4<sup>th</sup> March, 2019

#### **ITEM NO 15**

Notice of Motion: (discussed at item 13 above)

Notice of motion in the name of Cllr. T. Fortune (25<sup>th</sup> March, 2019) and from the Greystones Municipal District (26<sup>th</sup> March, 2019).

That Wicklow County Council acknowledge and support the recent #Climate Strikes [1,2] driven by the young people and families in Greystones, Arklow, Dublin and around the country.

That Wicklow County Council have listened and understood the deadly urgency felt by the young people and their demand that all stakeholders and representatives act immediately to ensure that young people have a liveable future in Wicklow, in Ireland and on planet Earth.

That Wicklow County Council agree that the evidence of emergency is overwhelming from <u>IPCC on</u> <u>Climate</u> [3] and from <u>WWF LPR on Biodiversity</u> [4].

That Wicklow County Council agree that, while relatively small in global terms, Wild Wicklow, previously acknowledged as the World's most liveable community, can and must step up and show visible leadership.

That Wicklow will immediate implement the following steps (as leading proactive cities and regions internationally already have):

-Declare a Climate Emergency for Wicklow

-Publish a Climate Action Plan

-Declare a Biodiversity Emergency for Wicklow

-Update and publish a Biodiversity Action Plan

-Report regularly on progress on both Action Plans

#### Tribute to retiring elected members of Wicklow County Council 2019

The Cathaoirleach paid tribute to the retiring elected members of Wicklow County Council, 2019 being Councillors C. Fox, D. Nolan, P. Doran, J. Ryan, G. McLoughlin, J. Ruttle (and also himself) noting the amount of years of dedicated service, highlights and achievements and leadership through various committees of the Council. The Cathaoirleach paid tribute to the Management team and staff of Wicklow County Council mentioning the current Chief Executive Mr. Frank Curran and former Chief Executives along with retired staff of the Council present in the chamber. He thanked his family and friends for the support given to him during his career on as an elected member of Wicklow County Council and to the electorate for returning him to office on five occasions, which he said he was very honoured to do. The retiring elected members addressed

the Council and paid tribute to their colleagues wishing those retiring every happiness in their retirement and for those running for election, the very best of good luck. At the conclusion the elected members retired to the canteen for refreshments to say good by to colleagues and staff.

#### THIS CONCLUDED THE BUSINESS OF THE MEETING

CLLR. PAT VANCE CATHOAIRLEACH WICKLOW COUNTY COUNCIL MS. LORRAINE GALLAGHER SENIOR EXECUTIVE OFFICER/ MEETINGS ADMINISTRATOR

Confirmed at meeting of Wicklow County Council held on Monday 1<sup>st</sup> July, 2019

Councillor Cathaoirleach \_\_\_\_\_